STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**  
**May 11 2021**  
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DALE EUGENE KING,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-002078

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial judge erred in failing to grant a mistrial after instructing the jury in his opening remarks that a trial was a search for the truth where such an instruction impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to the defendant?

2.

Whether the trial judge erred in failing to grant a mistrial after the decedent's sister testified that she advised the decedent to end her relationship with Appellant because Appellant physically assaulted her where the trial judge ruled such testimony was inadmissible?

3.

Whether the trial judge erred in allowing testimony that Appellant physically assaulted the victim two months prior to her death where the prior assault was not probative of intent or lack of mistake or accident, and any probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant was indicted by the Beaufort County grand jury for murder. R. 202. Appellant's jury trial was held before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson and a jury from December 9 – 11, 2019. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Trasi Campbell. R. 1. The state was represented by Kimberly Smith and Hunter Swanson. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 190, ll. 16 – 19. The judge sentenced Appellant to thirty-five-years imprisonment. R. 200, ll. 14 – 18.

This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

### **Issues 1 and 2**

“The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court.” State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 585, 698 S.E.2d 862, 865 (Ct. App. 2010). “The trial court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” Id.

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012).

### **Issue 3**

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. Whitner, at 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 16, 2017, Matt Bowsher with the Beaufort Fire Department responded to the Atlantic Inn for a person who was possibly in cardiac arrest. R. 41, l. 25 – 42, l. 14. Bowsher arrived on the scene around 8:10 a.m. and found a woman who was “unresponsive, laying on the sofa, stiff and cold to the touch [and] also had signs of blood and a cut to the lip and also blood coming from the nose.” R. 42, l. 15 – 43, l. 14. The woman was later identified as Veronica King, Appellant’s wife of over thirty years.

Bowsher recalled that Appellant was present on the scene and that Appellant told him that King had a history of seizures and the two of them had been drinking with friends the night before. R. 46, l. 14 – 47, l. 1. Bowsher did not find any seizure medication. R. 47, ll. 18 – 19. A paramedic arrived shortly after Bowsher and found that the woman had “no cardiac activity whatsoever” and that her body was cold and stiff. R. 50, l. 20 – 53, l. 3.

Prior to law enforcement’s arrival, Atul Patel, an employee of the hotel, recalled that Appellant came to his office and told him that King was not responding so Atul called 911. R. 56, ll. 9 – 18. Chet Patel owned the Atlantic Inn at the time of King’s death, and he testified that both Appellant and King worked for him for almost seven years and lived in one of the rooms at the hotel during that time. R. 59, ll. 1 – 24.

Jerome Bates, who was married to King’s sister, recalled speaking with Appellant on several occasions after King’s death. R. 64, l. 7 – 66, l. 22. Bates maintained that on the morning of King’s death, Appellant told Bates that he did not know what happened. Bates also testified that Appellant was “highly intoxicated.” R. 66, l. 23 – 67, l. 4. Bates further stated that later, while he and Appellant were still at the hotel, Appellant stood in the doorway of his hotel room and said, “I have to face this the rest of my life.” R. 68, ll. 1 – 8.

Bates further claimed that Appellant told him that King must have fallen and hit her head while taking a shower. R. 68, ll. 9 – 15. Bates then recalled that he and Appellant were sitting in the hotel room when he asked Appellant what happened and Appellant responded: “I went to sleep around 10:30, 11 and I did not wake up until about 8:00 the next morning. When I got up, I noticed [King] wasn’t in the bed and I found her on the couch and was stiff.” R. 69, ll. 19 – 25. Bates then claimed that Appellant was “questioning himself” out loud and asked: “What was I thinking? What did I just do?” R. 70, ll. 2 – 18.

Ultimately, Appellant left the hotel and went to stay with Bates at his house later that day. While at Bates’ house, Bates claimed that Appellant said: “[King] wanted to take a shower and I just told her to get her ass in bed and we’d wash up in the morning when we get up. I don’t know why she just made her head so hard. She just wouldn’t listen to me.” R. 71, l. 17 – 72, l. 7.

Appellant was arrested the following day after law enforcement received the preliminary autopsy results which showed King was strangled. R. 96, l. 13 – 100, l. 24. After Appellant was arrested, Bates recalled having two separate conversations with Appellant while he was in jail. First, Bates claimed that Appellant said he put King in the shower and as he was taking her out of the shower, she “slipped and she felt like dead weight” so he put King on the bed. R. 73, ll. 3 – 16. Bates claimed that in a second conversation with Appellant, Appellant said he grabbed King by the neck while getting her out of the shower and that she accidentally fell and hit her mouth. R. 73, ll. 17 – 24.

The morning that King was found dead, Appellant was transported to the Beaufort City Police Department to be interviewed. R. 92, l. 3 – 93, l. 25. Investigator Dowling, who interviewed Appellant, recalled his initial conversation with Appellant:

[Appellant] advised that he resided in that unit with his wife, that the previous night they had been consuming alcohol with friends and he explained that at roughly 10:00 to 11:00 that his friends had departed and . . . it was just him and his wife, that they had secured the hotel room. . . . He stated that they both went to bed together. He didn't report any disturbance or any arguments that occurred.

He advised me that when he woke up in the morning at roughly 8 a.m., that he found his wife on the couch. He went over to investigate, and he described that he had rolled her over and noticed that she wasn't breathing.

R. 94, l. 12 – 95, l. 6. Dowling further recalled that in Appellant's first interview, Appellant said that he believed King might have taken a shower that night and that Appellant did not like King taking showers after she had been drinking for fear that she would slip and fall. R. 95, ll. 12 – 25.

Dowling interviewed Appellant again the next day prior to arresting him. R. 96, l. 13 – 100, l. 24. In the second interview, Dowling claimed that Appellant admitted to being angry at King for wanting to take a shower because she had been drinking. R. 100, l. 25 – 101, l. 23. Appellant then supposedly told Dowling that if he was responsible for King's death that "it was not intentional and that he didn't mean to hurt [her]." R. 103, ll. 4 – 14. Appellant further admitted that he and King were fighting on the night of her death and that he slapped her in the face at one point. R. 103, l. 15 – 104, l. 11.

The autopsy of King determined that she died from strangulation. R. 116, ll. 21 – 23. King had three areas of bruising on the left side of her neck, two areas of bleeding in her left eye, and hemorrhages in six of her ten neck muscles. R. 117, l. 17 – 121, l. 21.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge erred in failing to grant a mistrial after instructing the jury in his opening remarks that a trial was a search for the truth because such an instruction impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to the defendant.

### **Relevant Facts**

During the judge's opening remarks to the jury, he gave the following instruction:

This trial, like all trials, may be different from what you might expect. Many people do not have the chance to attend actual court sessions and take part in a trial as you are now doing and they think from watching television or movies or reading books, that trials are always full of high drama, intense action and riveting circumstances.

While all of these things may be true at times, this trial is not for entertainment. It is a fundamental part of our democracy. *A search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done between the parties before this Court. Searching for the truth and making sure justice is done is often slow, deliberate and repetitive.* It's the opposite of what you may have seen on television or in movies or read in books. This courtroom is a place of honor, dedicated to the protection and preservation of citizen's rights through what many have called the greatest justice system ever created.

R. 27, ll. 6 – 24 (emphasis added). The trial judge also instructed the jury that the attorneys were “officers of this Court, sworn to uphold the integrity and fairness of our judicial system *and to help you in the search for the truth.*” R. 28, ll. 1 – 4 (emphasis added). While the trial judge told the jurors that his opening remarks were not a charge on the law, he did tell the jury that his comments were an explanation of the procedure that would be followed during the trial. R. 28, ll. 10 – 19.

The judge also instructed the jury that it was their “purpose” to find and determine the facts and that it was their “solemn responsibility to determine the guilt *or innocence* of the Defendant.” R. 29, l. 1 – 32, l. 23 (emphasis added). Finally, the judge instructed: “In determining what the true facts are in this case, you must decide whether or not the testimony of a witness is believable.” R. 34, ll. 3 – 5. The judge did not define reasonable doubt in his opening instructions.

Defense counsel objected to these remarks arguing that instructing a jury that the purpose of Appellant’s trial was to seek the truth unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to the defendant. R. 76, ll. 1 – 14. Counsel further argued that because this instruction appeared in the judge’s opening remarks, the jury would now spend the entire trial believing that their role was to seek the truth. Counsel requested a mistrial because the harm to Appellant could not be cured. R. 76, l. 15 – 77, l. 7.

The judge stated that he believed the instruction was “just a cautionary thing to tell them that *I want them to get to the bottom of this.*” R. 77, ll. 16 – 23 (emphasis added). The judge further remarked that this was the charge he was given when he first became a judge and that he believed his closing charge on the law “should take care of that.” R. 77, l. 24 – 78, l. 6. The judge denied counsel’s motion for a mistrial.

## **Discussion**

More than two decades ago, in State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998), our Supreme Court strongly urged trial judges to avoid using any “seek” language in their charges to the jury. The Court noted that such “in search of the truth” language was unnecessary and ran the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to the defendant. Id. at 151-56, 508 S.E.2d at 865-68.

In State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000), our Supreme Court repeated its warning that trial courts should avoid using any “seek the truth” language. However, the court in Aleksey noted that in that case the “seek” language was used in the instruction on witness credibility. Id. at 27, 538 S.E.2d at 251-52. The “seek” language did not appear in either the reasonable doubt or circumstantial evidence portion of the instruction. Id. Thus, the Aleksey Court found that there was not a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a manner inconsistent with the state’s burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 28-29, 538 S.E.2d at 252-53.

In State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012), our Supreme Court considered a jury instruction that “whatever verdict you reach will represent truth and justice for all parties that are involved in this case.” Although the issue was not preserved, the Court instructed trial judges “[to] remove any suggestion from his general sessions charges that a criminal jury’s duty is to return a verdict that is ‘just’ or ‘fair’ to all parties. Such a charge could effectively alter the jury’s perception of the burden of proof, substituting justice and fairness for the presumption of innocence and the State’s burden to prove the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id. at 256, 737 S.E.2d at 475.

Despite our Supreme Court’s repeated admonitions regarding the dangers of “seek the truth” language in the court’s jury charge, trial judges have continued to employ new derivatives of this burden shifting language. Recently, in State v. Beaty, 423 S.C. 26, 34, 813 S.E.2d 502, 506 (2018), our Supreme Court reviewed the trial court’s preliminary remarks to the jury, which included use of the terms “search[ing] for the truth,” “true facts,” and “just verdict.” The Court ruled:

[W]e agree with Appellant that a trial court should refrain from informing the jury, *whether through comments or through its charge*, that its role is to search for the truth, or to find the true facts, or to render a just verdict. These phrases may be understood

to place an obligation on the jury, independent of the burden of proof, to determine the circumstances surrounding the alleged crime and from those facts alone render the verdict it believes best serves the jury's perception of justice. We caution trial judges to avoid these terms and any other that may divert the jury from its obligation in a criminal case to determine, based solely on the evidence presented, whether the State has proven the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Id. (emphasis added). However, the Beatty Court found no prejudice sufficient to warrant reversal from the comments in light of its review of the entirety of the opening comments and the trial record. Id.

It is not the jury's function to search for the truth in criminal trials, or as the trial judge in this case stated: "to get to the bottom of this." R. 77, ll. 16 – 23. A jury's function is to determine whether the state has proven the defendant's guilt *beyond a reasonable doubt*. See Francis v. Franklin, 471 U.S. 307, 313 (1985) ("The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." (citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970))).

Here, while the judge's improper comments about searching for the truth appeared in his opening remarks rather than his definition of reasonable doubt, these opening remarks set the tone for the remainder of the trial. Including the "searching for the truth" language in the opening remarks was more prejudicial to Appellant than putting this same language in the charge on the law at the end of the trial. This is because the jurors spent the duration of the trial believing their job was something that it was not. In other words, the jurors spent the entire trial under the false and incorrect impression that their role was to determine "the truth." This is especially problematic in light of the judge's juxtaposition of a fictional television drama with Appellant's trial, which the judge incorrectly described as a search for the truth. "An instruction

is defective if a reasonable juror could interpret it to allow a finding of guilt based on a degree of proof below that required by the Due Process Clause.” State v. Manning, 305 S.C. 413, 416, 409 S.E.2d 372, 374 (1991).

When viewed in this light, the judge unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to Appellant not only by telling the jurors that their job was to search and find the truth, but also that it was their solemn duty to determine whether Appellant was guilty *or innocent*. This is unequivocally not the role of a criminal jury. Their job is solely to determine whether the state has proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt. That is quite different from determining whether a criminal defendant is innocent. “[A]n essential of the due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment [is] that no person shall be made to suffer the onus of a criminal conviction except upon sufficient proof – defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of every element of the offense.” Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316 (1979).

The trial judge erred in this case by informing the jury at the outset of Appellant’s trial that their role was to search for the truth and to determine whether Appellant was guilty or innocent. This was an incorrect statement of the law and of the actual role a criminal jury has. Furthermore, this improperly invited the jury to choose between the state’s version of events and Appellant’s. This resulted in an unconstitutional shifting of the burden of proof to Appellant by implicitly requiring him to prove his innocence. Appellant’s conviction should be reversed. See State v. Beaty, 423 S.C. 26, 813 S.E.2d 502 (2018); State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012); State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998); State v. Manning, 305 S.C. 413, 409 S.E.2d 372 (1991).

2.

The trial judge erred in failing to grant a mistrial after the decedent’s sister testified that she advised the decedent to end her relationship with Appellant because Appellant physically assaulted her because the trial judge ruled such testimony was inadmissible.

### **Relevant Facts**

The state made a pretrial motion to introduce “the prior history of difficulties” between Appellant and King. R. 3, ll. 7 – 15. In support of its motion the state proffered testimony by King’s sister, Bessie Bates. Bates testified, in part, that Appellant and King’s relationship consisted primarily of “arguing, fighting, [and] fussing” and that she advised King to “move away from the situation.” R. 6, l. 17 – 7, l. 5. The solicitor also informed the judge that it would seek to introduce testimony from one of Appellant and King’s daughters regarding a domestic violence for which Appellant was arrested two months prior to King’s death.<sup>1</sup> R. 9, l. 24 – 10, l. 3.

The state argued that the testimony was admissible pursuant to State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27 (1999) to establish Appellant’s intent and a lack of mistake or accident as allowed under Rule 404 (b), SCRE. R. 14, l. 18 – 15, l. 14. The judge ruled that the sister’s testimony about the generalized prior difficulties and the daughter’s testimony about the domestic violence arrest from two months prior were admissible. R. 23, ll. 6 – 13.

When Bates was called before the jury the solicitor asked her if she ever gave King advice about her relationship with Appellant. R. 132, ll. 7 – 9. Bates answered that she had and continued: “witnessing the times when I had to go to the hospital and to check after her for being

---

<sup>1</sup> This testimony is the subject of Appellant’s Issue 3.

beaten and stuff like that.” R. 132, ll. 10 – 13. Defense counsel objected and the judge informed the jury to disregard Bates’ last answer. R. 132, ll. 14 – 19.

Outside the presence of the jury, defense counsel requested a mistrial because of Bates’ improper testimony. R. 143, ll. 10 – 13. Counsel argued that Bates’ testimony about going to the hospital to check on King after she was beaten by Appellant fell outside the permissible testimony about prior difficulties and that the judge’s instruction to the jury to disregard the answer was insufficient to cure the harm. R. 143, ll. 13 – 25. The judge denied counsel’s motion for a mistrial. R. 144, ll. 2 – 14.

### **Discussion**

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