**RECEIVED**

**May 06 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-002078

THE STATE .....RESPONDENT,

v.

DALE EUGENE KING.....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

102 Ribaut Road

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

In *State v. Aleksey*, the court held jury instructions on reasonable doubt given at the end of the trial (that charged the jury to “seek for the truth” or “search for the truth”) ran the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to the defendant because the jury was more likely to have applied the phrases in a manner that prejudicially affected him. 343 S.C. 20, 27–29 (2000), 538 S.E.2d at 251–52. However, even though the *Aleksey* court found the phrase was error when used at the end of the trial, it analyzed the entire record and found the error to be harmless. *Id.*

Although the phrase was used during the charge on the law, it was not given in conjunction with either the reasonable doubt or circumstantial evidence instruction, and thus the defense did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the language affected the result of the trial. *Id.* at 27–29, 538 S.E.2d at 251–52.<sup>2</sup>

In *State v. Beaty*, the judge used the language in question at the beginning of the trial:

[This] trial . . . is a **search for the truth** in an effort to make sure that justice is done. **Searching for the truth** and ensuring that justice is done is often slow, deliberate, and repetitive. [The attorneys] are sworn to uphold the integrity and the fairness of our judicial system and to help you as jurors to **search for the truth.**”

*Beaty*, 423 S.C. at 34, 813 S.E.2d at 505–506 (emphasis added).

While the court held these comments to be improper yet harmless error,<sup>3</sup> they also held that “the disputed comments can be distinguished from *Aleksey* because they were a mere statement to the jury and not a charge on the law. Further, the remarks were not linked to either the reasonable doubt or the circumstantial evidence charges as was condemned in *Aleksey*.” *Id.*

Like in *Beaty*, the court held in *State v. Patterson* the trial court’s use of the phrase “search for the truth” in opening remarks was harmless error. *State v. Patterson*, 425 S.C. 500, 511, 823 S.E.2d 217, 223 (Ct. App. 2019) “[The] trial court’s improper comments came at the beginning of trial rather than during [the] charge on State’s burden of proof at the end, which is when such a

---

<sup>2</sup> The court similarly disfavored jury instructions that encouraged the jury to “seek some other rational or logical explanation other than the guilt of the accused” in *State v. Needs* but, like in *Aleksey*, the court found it was harmless error because the trial judge instructed jurors twenty-six other times that the State had the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. 333 S.C. 134, 151–52, 154–55, 508 S.E.2d 857, 865–68 (1998).

<sup>3</sup> “[It] could be understood to place an obligation on the jury, independent of the burden of proof, to determine the circumstances surrounding the alleged crime and from those facts alone render the verdict the jury believes best serves its perception of justice.” *Beaty*, 813 S.E.2d at 506.

“We therefore instruct trial judges to avoid these terms and any others that may divert the jury from its obligation in a criminal case to determine whether the State has proven the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.*



statement would have the most prejudicial effect.” *Id.* The *Beaty* and the *Patterson* courts both declined to find reversible error as the defense did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt the language had any effect on the final result. *Beaty*, 813 S.E.2d at 506, *Patterson*, 823 S.E.2d at 224.

“It is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations.” *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 362, 543 S.E.2d 586, 596 (Ct. App. 2001)<sup>4</sup> (quoting *United States v. Hasting*, 461 U.S. 499, 510 (1983)). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it ‘could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.’” *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 150–51 (1985). A conviction may not be reversed due to “insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” *State v. Chavis*, 412 S.C. 101, 109, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015). “Whatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter.” *State v. Jolly*, 304 S.C. 34, 39, 402 S.E.2d 895, 898 (Ct. App. 1991).

Here, if the trial judge’s remarks were error, like *Beaty* and *Patterson*, the error was harmless and insubstantial. The record as a whole does not show they had any effect on the outcome of the case or that the jury applied the remarks in a manner that was inconsistent with the State’s burden of proof. The remarks occurred at the beginning of the trial, the State’s burden of proof was appropriately discussed at length throughout the entire trial, the language was not connected to the reasonable doubt instructions, and the State, the defense attorney, and the judge all took a considerable amount of time to tell the jury about the Appellant’s presumption of

---

<sup>4</sup> Overruled on other grounds by *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

innocence.<sup>5</sup> The defense has not shown the Appellant was prejudiced by the remarks nor that the alleged prejudice could not be removed any other way. They have also not shown evidence of urgent circumstances warranting the extreme measure of a mistrial. Therefore, a mistrial was not necessary and this Court should affirm.

## II.

**The trial judge properly instructed the jury to disregard a witness's one-sentence statement that her sister was "beaten and stuff" by the Appellant because the State immediately helped the witness course correct, the statement was vague, and the record does not show it prejudiced the Appellant by affecting the outcome of the trial. If it was error, it was harmless and did not warrant the extreme remedy of a mistrial.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a mistrial because the witness's statement about visiting her sister in the hospital after being beaten was impermissible. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. The judge ruled before trial that testimony about generalized difficulties in the relationship between the Appellant and the victim were admissible but that details of such difficulties were not.<sup>6</sup> After the witness made the statement in question, the defense objected and the judge instructed the jury to disregard her answer. He never specifically ruled the statement qualified as a "detail" of the difficulty. However, even if her remark was error,

---

<sup>5</sup> The transcript is three hundred and eleven (311) pages long and the judge's pretrial comments spanned nine pages. His comments including the "search for the truth" language only took up two of them. *See generally* ROA. 26–35. The judge spent four pages covering the State's burden of proof and the Defendant's presumption of innocence, *See generally* ROA. 28–32, and later spent nine pages instructing the jury on law regarding the State's burden of proof, the Appellant's presumption of innocence, and reasonable doubt. *See generally* ROA. pp. 167–182.

Defense counsel spent five pages instructing the jury on the presumption of innocence, the State's burden of proof, and reasonable doubt. *See generally* ROA. 39–41, 163–164. In all, more than eighteen pages of the transcript include comments and instructions to the jury to regard the Appellant as innocent until proven guilty.

<sup>6</sup> The objection and challenged error are arguably not immediately obvious from the record. It is unclear whether the defense objected to the specific statement or the testimony at large and neither the defense, the trial judge, nor the appellate defense make this clear.

it was harmless. There is no evidence in the record that demonstrates the Appellant was prejudiced by it. There is independent, competent, and conclusive evidence, however, that Appellant was guilty of the crime. The timing of the death could only have occurred when the two parties were in the room and it was not a natural death: the autopsy determined the cause of death was homicide by strangulation. The Appellant made statements from which it could be determined that he committed the crime and that he knew he did it. The Appellant admitted to being angry with her that night, to striking her in the face, and to grabbing her by the neck. This Court should affirm the trial court.

### **Relevant Facts**

Before trial, the State moved to admit the “prior history of difficulties between the parties under current South Carolina case law . . . .” ROA. 3, L. 8–10.

[The] prior difficulties between the parties . . . go to prove animus and motive in a homicide case . . . . [T]he couple had been married for 35 years and I’m not seeking to have law enforcement testify to it, but the victim’s sister, Bessie Bates, can testify about the fact that they had a tumultuous relationship . . . .

[I]n a domestic homicide case, it’s extremely relevant and probative to talk about the relationship because it goes into the cycle of abuse basically.

ROA. 3, L. 23–25, ROA. 4, L. 3–13.

The State proffered Ms. Bates in order to elucidate the testimony they sought to admit. ROA. 5–9. The State asked her, “How would you describe [the victim and defendant’s] relationship?” She answered, “As long as I can remember, there was days they had some pretty good days but for the most part, it was arguing, fighting, fussing.” ROA. 6, L. 17–20. “Did you ever give [the victim] any advice about Dale?” “Yes. There was several times I told her, went to see her and she –.” The State: “Without telling me what she said, what was your advice to her?”

ROA. 6, L. 21–25. “Oh, that she needed to move away from the situation.” The State: “Did you give her that advice once, twice, a number of times?” “Several times.” ROA. 7, L. 1–5.

The State argued the testimony was admissible pursuant to *State v. Smith*, 337 S.C. 27, 522 S.E.2d 598 (1999) and *State v. Williams*, 2018 WL 2049985, C/A No. 2015-001727 (Ct. App. 2018).<sup>7</sup> They argued, “[T]he probative value certainly outweighs the prejudicial value in determining and allowing the jury to hear the testimony about the state of their relationship . . . .” ROA. 15, L. 22–25.

I don’t have the luxury of knowing what the defense is going to present, and I have to prove murder. I have to prove malice aforethought and state of mind and that comes into play and this is proper evidence admissible to prove state of mind and intent.

That whole slew of cases that examined evidence of prior disputes, ill feelings and hostile acts in the homicide case is to establish a turbulent relationship between Defendant and Victim in order to point towards state of mind. Those are all – that’s good South Carolina case law.

ROA. 20, L. 24–25, ROA. 21, L. 1–10.

The defense objected, arguing they wanted to defend on the indictment alone, as “by the time the State gets to closing arguments, we’ll have a full-fledged violent drunk who beats his wife . . . .” ROA. 18, L. 19–21, 23–25. The Court admitted the testimony over the objection, finding “the convictions came in [in *Smith*] . . . to establish the Defendant’s state of mind and to rebut his claim of accident . . . .” ROA. 20, L. 3–7. The Court continued by saying:

I do think in trying to prove malice and things like that, the State will get to put in the testimony of the prior difficulties and the prior – the *generalized prior difficulties* that the sister talked about and the testimony about the events two months before, which I think would be appropriate.

---

<sup>7</sup> The State: “I think *State v. Williams*, in particular, where the Court pulled the evidence and marital discourse was admissible, a husband’s trial for the murder of his wife, it’s just that the details of the difficulties are not admissible and I certainly think that the advice to her sister over the years of marriage was completely admissible.” ROA. 21, L. 13–19.

[The State] is going to have some leeway about going as to any bad, any crimes or anything like that . . . [I]f we want the Jury to get kind of a full flavor of it, we need to at least give them a chance to get acquainted with it.

ROA. 23, L. 6–13, ROA. 24, L. 17–19, L. 22–25 (emphasis added).

During the trial, the State asked Ms. Bates, “How would you describe [the victim and defendant’s] relationship?” She answered, “The truth is, their relationship was not the best of relationships.” ROA. 131, L. 22–25. “I didn’t see them fighting directly, but when I would see my sister, yeah, you could tell that she – it wasn’t good.” ROA. 132, L. 4–6. “Did you ever give your sister any advice about her relationship with Dale?” “Yes . . . Seeing – witnessing the times when I had to go to the hospital and to check after her *for being beaten and stuff like that.*” ROA. 132, L. 7–13 (emphasis added). The defense objected and **the Court said, “Don’t say anything, Ms. Bates. I’m sorry. Are you going to redirect your question?” The State: “Yes. Yes, sir.” The Court; You all disregard that last answer. Go ahead.**” ROA. 132, L. 14–19 (emphasis added). The State: “Not getting into any details of fights or things that you did not personally observe, did you give [the victim] any advice about her relationship with Dale? . . . What advice was that?” ROA. 132, L. 23–25. Ms. Bates said, “That you need to – you need to come out of the situation that you’re in.” ROA. 133, L. 2–5. The defense moved for a mistrial and the judge denied it, noting, “I cautioned them to disregard that answer.” ROA. 143, L. 11–13, ROA. 144, L. 4–5.

### Analysis

“We start by presuming the cure worked, for we also presume *juries follow their instructions.*” *State v. Young*, 420 S.C. 608, 623, 803 S.E.2d 888, 896 (Ct. App. 2017). *Richardson v. Marsh*, 481 U.S. 200, 206 (1987) (emphasis added). While “an instruction to disregard incompetent evidence usually is deemed to have cured the error in its admission,” a mistrial may

still be required if “on the facts of the particular case it is probable, notwithstanding such instruction or withdrawal, the accused was prejudiced.” *State v. Simpson*, 325 S.C. 37, 43, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). However, even without a curative instruction, an error not shown to be prejudicial to the defendant does not constitute grounds for reversal. *State v. Patterson*, 367 S.C. 219, 228, 625 S.E.2d 239, 243 (Ct. App. 2006). “Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of a party is affected . . . .” Rule 103, SCRE.

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and “[t]he trial court’s decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” *State v. Wilson*, 389 S.C. 579, 585, 698 S.E.2d 862, 865 (Ct. App. 2010). “The granting of a motion for a mistrial is an extreme measure that should only be taken if an incident is so grievous that the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” *State v. Stanley*, 365 S.C. 24, 33–34 (Ct. App. 2005). The judge must first exhaust all other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999).

“It is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations.” *State v. Mitchell*, 378 S.C. 305, 316–317, 662 S.E.2d 493, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *United States v. Hasting*, 461 U.S. 499, 510 (1983)). “The harmless-error doctrine . . . promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error.” *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 681 (1986). A reviewing court must consider the entire record and determine whether, absent the error, the jury would have returned a verdict of guilty. *Hasting*, 461 U.S. at 512. “Where guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence and no rational conclusion can be reached other than that the accused is guilty, a

conviction will not be set aside because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” *State v. Howard*, 296 S.C. 481, 485, 374 S.E.2d 284, 286 (1988). “The Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one.” *State v. White*, 371 S.C. 439, 449, 639 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2006).

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